IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
_____________________ 

 
 
JORGE MENDOZA,    ) NO. 82740    
      ) 
   Appellant,  ) 
      ) 
 vs.     ) 
      ) 
STATE OF NEVADA,   ) 
      ) 
   Respondent.  ) 
                                                              ) 
 
 

APPELLANT’S OPENING BRIEF 
 

I. ROUTING STATEMENT 

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(3), this proceeding invokes the original 

jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and is not presumptively assigned to the 

Court of Appeals because it is a post-conviction appeal to a judgment of 

conviction and postconviction writ of habeas action for a jury trial verdict

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 

 N.R.S. 177.015 gives this Court jurisdiction to review an appeal from a 

jury verdict.  This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition 

for writ of habeas corpus in Jorge Mendoza vs. Warden, William Gittere, 
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Civil Case No. A-19-804157-W. XVII:3741-43.   The written judgment of 

conviction was filed on December 2, 2016, for the companion criminal case 

C-15-303991-1.  XIII:3013-6.  The trial court denied post-conviction relief 

initially orally at the hearing on the briefings February 23, 2021. XVII:3628-

82 at 3679-81The Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law 

and Order was filed and served by Odyssey eServe April 2, 2021.  XVII: 

3692-740.    A timely notice of appeal was filed on April 5, 2021.    

XVII:13741-43.    

 

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES  
 

1.   Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially  
violated Mr. Mendoza’s Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment 
constitutional rights and rights under Article 1 section 8 of the 
Nevada Constitution by providing inaccurate statements of self-
defense law to him. 
 
2. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially 
provided inaccurate statements of law to the jury in his opening 
statement and closing argument and wrongly advised the jury 
that Jorge was the defendant who caused the death of Gibson. 
 
3. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially 
failed to cross examine witnesses to effectively show there was 
evidence showing Jorge might not have been the shooter that 
caused the death of Monty Gibson. 
 
4. Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially 
Failed to move to suppress statements made to the Police by Mr. 
Mendoza at the hospital. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Jorge Mendoza was convicted of First-Degree Murder with use of a 

deadly weapon and 6 Felony B crimes after a 19-day jury trial which resulted, 

for him, in an aggregate sentence of 23 years to Life imprisonment on 

December 12, 2016, the Honorable Judge Carolyn Ellsworth presiding 

throughout. XIII:3013-6. Three of five co-defendants - Jorge Mendoza, 

Joseph Larson and David Murphy were tried together, despite efforts to sever 

the cases.  XI:2569-86.   Joseph Laguna was convicted of Second-Degree 

Murder and 6 Felony B Counts.  His aggregate sentence was 27 years to life. 

XIII:3007-8.  David Murphy was convicted of Second-Degree Murder and 6 

Felony B Counts.  His aggregate sentence was 23 years to life.  XIII:3008-9.   

The first Indictment was electronically filed with the District Court 

January 30, 2015. I:20-6.  The Superseding Indictment filed February 27, 

2015, added Joseph Laguna (aka Montone, Joey) as a defendant joining Jorge 

Mendoza, Summer Larsen, and David Murphy (aka Dough Boy, Duboy) and 

dropping Defendant Robert Figueroa, who had taken a plea deal.  I:27-33.  A 

Second Superseding Indictment was filed May 29, 2015, adding at the end, 

the name of a witness that testified at the Grand Jury – Justin Brening. I:40 
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line 2.  The date of occurrence was Sunday September 21, 2014.  I:1.  The 7 

crimes charged included 6 felony B crimes and one Felony A crime:   

Count 1 Conspiracy to Commit Robbery (Category B Felony – NRS 199.408, 

200.380 – NOC 50147); 

Count 2 Burglary while in Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Category B 

Felony – N.R.S. 205.060 – NOC 50426); 

Count 3 Home Invasion while in Possession of a Deadly Weapon (Category 

B Felony – N.R.S. 205.067 - NOC 5037); 

Count 4 Attempted Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon (Category B 

Felony – N.R.S. 193.330, 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50145); 

Count 5 Attempted Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category B 

Felony - NRS 193.330, 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50145); 

Count 6 Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category A Felony – NRS 

200.010, 200.030, 193.165 – NOC 50001); 

Count 7 Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon – (Category B Felony 

– NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165 – NOC 50031). 

1AA13-19. 1AA27-33.   

Mr. Mendoza was arraigned on February 23, 2015 and plead not guilty 

with his appointed Attorney William Wolfbrandt by his side.  I:19.   
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As to the two codefendants not tried with the other three defendants - 

Summer Larsen (fka Rice) got a plea deal with the State in exchange for her 

testimony.  She was sentenced on count 1 conspiracy to commit robbery to 1 

to 4 years and on count 2 attempt robbery to 1 year 4 months to 6 years. C-

15-303991-3. Deal: V:1018. Testimony: Jury Trial Day 6: V:1109-36   Jury 

Trial Day 7: V:1141-232.  

Robert Figueroa also got a deal. And he was given an aggregate 

sentence of 5.6 to 19 years for robbery and robbery with use of a deadly 

weapon in case C-15-303991-2.  VIII:1810-3.    Testimony Jury Trial Day 10 

VIII:1804-46.  Day 11 VIII:1850, 1853-991.  Day 12 VII:1995  

Joseph Larsen, the roommate of deceased victim Monty Gibson 

testified at the second Grand Jury hearing under protest but did not testify at 

the jury trial.  XIV:3153-81.  

The 19-day jury trial commenced September 12, 2016.  I:60.  

Throughout the entirety the lawyers and Judge were:  

Judge Carolyn Ellsworth, For the State Marc DiGiacomo, Agnes M. Lexis,  

For Defendant Mendoza: William L Wolfbrandt, For Defendant Murphy 

Casey A. Landis, For Defendant Laguna Monique A McNeill.  I:60. 

Voir dire lasted 4 days.  Jury Trial Day 1: I:60-202.  Jury Trial Day 2 I:203-

50, II:251-377.  Jury Trial Day 3: II:378-500, III:501-605. Jury Trial Day 4 
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III:606-750, IV:751-802.  The State presented 22 witnesses and rested their 

case on September 30, 2016, the fourteenth day of a nineteen-day jury trial.  

(tr. p. 74) X:2382.  

 
 

Jorge Mendoza testified after the State rested.  Jury Trial Day 14.  (tr. 

p. 4-18) X:2386-500, XI:2501-13, XI:2514-39.  The two other defendants 

introduced three defense witnesses.  XI:2587-2717. 

 
The short Sentencing Hearing for the three defendants was November 

28, 2016.   Mr. Mendoza declined his opportunity to address the court.   The 

Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 2, 2016. XIII:3013-6. 

Attorney William Wolfbrandt was Jorge’s trial attorney.   Attorney Amanda 

Gregory handled his appeal – Nevada Supreme Court Case 72056.  Her 

Notice of Appeal was filed December 22, 2016. XIII:3017.    

There was Oral Argument before the Court of Appeals, Chief Judge 

Silver Presiding on October 16, 2018.  Mr. Mendoza lost. The Order of 

Affirmance was filed October 30, 2018. XV:3374-78. Remittitur issued and 

received by the District Court Clerk November 29, 2018.   

On October 18, 2019, Mr. Mendoza filed a timely 8-page Petition for 

Writ of Habeas Corpus. XV:3379-87. The Evidentiary Hearing was set for 

February 23, 2021.  XVII:3627.  XVII:3628-82.  Two witnesses were 
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presented for testimony.  Former Attorney Lew Wolfbrandt and Convict 

Jorge Mendoza. XVII:3629.  

Judge Yeager made an immediate oral bench ruling at the end of the 

hearing denying relief.  XVII:3679.  Her written Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law & Order were filed April 2, 2021.  XVII:A3692-4740.  A 

timely Notice of Appeal was filed April 5, 2021.  XVII:3741-3. 

 

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On September 21, 2014, Monty Gibson was shot and killed at a house 

in Las Vegas that he shared with Joey Larsen, after 3 men, Robert Figueroa, 

Joseph Laguna, and Jorge Mendoza, broke down their door with the intent to 

steal marijuana.  I:1-6.  Figueroa was shot and struck twice with bullets by 

Larsen. XIV:3162.  The three men immediately turned and ran away from the 

house. X:2460-1. 

When Jorge was running from the house he was shot by Larsen and fell 

to the ground in the middle of the street.  IV:876-7; XI1420, 1430; XIII:1844.  

Neighbor Gene Walker saw Murphy and Laguna drive by and stop at Jorge, 

seeing he was injured, did not pick him up and then drove off.  IV:881-4.   

IX:2188.   
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Murphy had dropped the three off in the driveway and parked the car 

on the street just before the home invasion and waited for them to exit the 

house so he could drive them away.  VIII:1837-8.  

 

Figueroa testified that when he was running away, he was still hearing 

gunshots but denies firing his weapon.  VIII:1856.  He also stated that while 

he was looking back, he did not see Jorge or Laguna firing.  VIII:1857.  And 

that he saw Murphy drive up – Laguna ran up to the driveway and got in the 

car and they sped away. VIII:1842. Neighbor Roger Day, a retired 

correctional officer stated he saw Figueroa shooting but not Mendoza.  

XIV:1308-9.  Figueroa and Jorge were each stranded injured with bullets on 

separate parts of the street. Figueroa hid in the bushes for eight to nine hours 

bleeding from his 2 gunshot wounds.  VIII: 1844.  XIV:3141.  Ultimately, he 

was able to reach his sister who came to pick him up around 6 a.m. 

September 22.  VIII:1862.  He was arrested October 20, 2014, 29 days after 

the crime, when police surrounded him as he was leaving his apartment.  

VIII:1866.   

 

After Jorge was struck by a bullet and had fallen to the ground in the 

middle of the street, he drug himself to a neighbor’s truck to hide.  IV:869; 
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876-7; XI:1420, 1430; XIII:1844.   The police came almost immediately 

having gotten several 911 calls.  XIV:3069-70.  Not far from the scene they 

found Jorge’s blood trail which led to a neighbor’s truck.  XIV:3185-6.   He 

was ordered out of the truck and handcuffed.  IV:919 lines 9-13.  An 

ambulance arrived. He was given morphine.  He was rushed to the hospital.  

He was given morphine again on arrival. Indication pain.  Time 23:06 

9/21/14.   XVI:3602.    

Detectives Tod Williams and Merrick questioned him twice at UMC 

hospital just after the crime – minutes after he was given his second morphine 

dose so he was  sedated, in much pain and awaiting surgery to have a bullet 

removed from his femur.   XVI:3487-3539.  XVI:3540-56.  VII:1562-4.   

All involved were charged with murder and related crimes stemming 

from this incident. IAA1-18.  Figueroa got a plea deal from the State for 

testifying against everyone [Jury Trial Days 10, 11, 12]   as did Summer 

Larsen who participated in the initial planning stages of the crime. Jury Trial 

Day 9.  Mr. Mendoza, Mr. Murphy and Mr. Laguna proceeded to a jury trial. 

 

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

“The question of whether a defendant has 

received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial is a mixed question of law 
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and fact and is thus subject to independent review. State v. Love, 109 Nev. 

1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 

698). However, purely factual findings of the district court are entitled to 

deference on appeal. Riley v. State, 110 Nev. 638, 647, 878 P.2d 272, 278 

(1994).”  Whorton v. Sheppard, No. 54284, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 72, at *1-2 

(June 23, 2010).   An appellate court reviews de novo the denial of a petition 

for a writ of habeas corpus.  Shackleford v. Hubbard, 234 F.3d 1072, 1074 

(9th Cir. 2000).   

 

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Based on the legal advice of his trial attorney who insisted to him that 

he had grounds for self-defense under Nevada law - Jorge waived his right to 

remain silent and took responsibility for the death of Monty Gibson. 

XV3454-7.   This incorrect statement of law and advice was ineffective and 

prejudicial in and of itself, but also a form of coercion which deprived him of 

his fifth amendment right not to testify and justifies a reversal of his 

conviction.  It additionally violated his 14th Amendment due process rights 

and his sixth amendment right to effective assistance of counsel as well as 

those rights afforded to him under Article 1 section 8 of the Nevada 

Constitution.  Prejudice should be presumed.  When someone is made false 
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promises in exchange for their statement to police or commits to a plea 

agreement it can invalidate the plea and lead to a suppression of the 

statement. Here we argue that the inaccurate statement of self-defense law 

was of such great magnitude, and was relied on completely by Jorge to make 

his determination to testify and assent to trial strategy -  that a similar result, 

in this case a new trial – should occur.  There was some evidence that another 

shooter could have caused the death of Gibson.   One neighbor said he saw 

Figueroa  shooting. XIV:1308-9. Another neighbor said he saw Murphy and 

Laguna right next to Jorge in the street.  VI:1401-12.  Figueroa testified that 

as he was running away he looked back and saw Murphy Laguna and Jorge in 

the street. VIII:1857 So Jorge was not the only one left on the scene at the 

time of the shooting. The guns that were collected by police that day were the 

two of the victim / shooter who lived – Joseph Larson. XIV:3160.  And the 

gun of Jorge.  VII:1550, VIII:1383, X:2449. The guns of the other three 

defendants were not located at the scene.  The record never conclusively 

establishes that the ringleader Murphy had a gun, but he probably did.  The 

record does establish that Laguna and Figueroa had guns.  VII:1833, 

VII:1553.  Laguna’s gun does not appear to have ever been requested of him 

upon his arrest.  Figueroa claimed to have advised the police as to where they 

could find his gun.  But there is some dispute on whether he was being 



 

 12 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

truthful about the exact gun or guns he had on him that day.  Ultimately the 

police retrieved a gun from his girlfriend that he says is what he had.  

VIII:1859, 1882.  It along with Jorge’s gun and Larson’s gun were forwarded 

to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Departments forensic scientist Anya 

Lester in the firearms and toolmarks analyst  unit for testing and comparison 

with the cartridges found on the scene and the bullet and fragment found in 

the autopsy of Gibson.  VI:1299-1309. Lester testified that though the bullet 

and fragment from the autopsy shared similar general characteristics  with the 

rifle Jorge had on him that day – she was not able to conclusively identify it 

to said rifle. VI:1308.   But she was able to rule out that the other victim’s 

two surrendered weapons had caused his death as well as the gun surrendered 

over 28 days later by Figeuroa. VI:1308.   

Jorge was convicted of first-degree murder.  His 2 codefendants were 

convicted of second-degree murder.  This is clear evidence that had he not 

testified he would have been convicted of second-degree murder as well.  

There is no one who saw him shooting. Not Figueroa, not any of the 

neighbors. In fact, the one neighbor who did see a shooter said it was 

Figueroa.  XIV:1308-9. And while Mr. Wolfbrandt advised his client that 

evidence showed none of the other defendant’s were on the scene at the time 

– a second neighbor told police that after the shooting he saw Murphy and 
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Laguna drive by Jorge injured in the street, stop and then drive away.  

VI:1401-12.  And Figueroa testified that while he was running away he 

looked back and saw Jorge and Laguna.  So all four defendants were still on 

the scene and should not have been ruled out as the shooter that caused the 

death. 

A reasonable attorney would have done research on self-defense before 

giving his client such inaccurate advice.  A reasonable attorney would have 

had a firm grasp on the law of the case and the facts alleged.  Mr. Wolfbrandt 

did not.  XVII:3635.  Likewise, a reasonable attorney would have requested 

from the judge before his client testified - a ruling on whether self-defense 

jury instructions would be allowed, or at the very least advised his client that 

the instructions had not been approved yet so he could factor that into his 

decision making.  XVII:3636 line 1125.   

And because of his ineffective prejudicial decision to pursue a self-

defense argument he overlooked all other possible avenues of representation 

such as highlighting to the jury that it was Figueroa who was seen shooting 

not Mendoza.  And noting that Laguna and Murphy should not be ruled out 

as the ones who could have caused the death.  The coroner determined based 

on the evidence it was his belief the shooter was four or more feet away from 
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Gibson at the time of shooting.  VI:1333.  This does not rule out any of the 

defendants from having caused the death.   

Further, much like Swanson – by giving the wrong law in opening 

statement and closing argument hand in hand with telling the jury that his 

client was the one whose bullet caused the death – even though he admitted at 

the postconviction hearing he did not know this for certain – he in essence, 

after the cancellation effect of the correct jury instructions, went up and told 

the jury that Jorge was guilty of everything.  IV:854-6, XII:2873-87, 

XVII:3636, 3671.   

And finally  by not moving to suppress Mr. Mendoza’s hospital 

statements he not only reduced in the jury’s eyes his credibility that he was 

acting in self-defense when shooting – since his story had so fully diverged – 

he made the jury dislike him even more.  XVII:3637-8.  The State played the 

interview tapes for a reason and they had a negative impact for Mr. 

Mendoza.   XII:2763, 2778.  Wolfbrandt should have moved to have 

them suppressed.  He testified  “It really didn’t matter to me what he told the 

police because he was in the hospital and was under anesthesia.  I’m sure 

he went through surgery because he had that femur bone shattered."  

XVII:3638.  But it did matter.   It was prejudicially ineffective for him not to 

do so. 
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VIII. ARGUMENT 

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, 

“[in]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right … to have 

the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.”  This court has long recognized 

that ‘the right to counsel is the right to effective assistance of counsel.” 

Strickland v Washington, 466, U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063 (1984); see 

also State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993). 

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel a 

defendant must prove he was denied “reasonably effective assistance” of 

counsel by satisfying the two-prong test of Strickland.  466 U.S. at 686, 104 

S. Ct. at 2063-64; see also Love, 109 Nev at 1138, 865 P.2d at 323.  Under 

the Strickland test, a defendant must show first that his counsel’s 

representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and 

second, that but for the counsel’s errors there is a reasonable probability that 

the result of the proceedings would have been different.  Strickland at 687-88, 

694, 104 S. Ct at 2065, 2068.  Warden, Nevada State Prison v Lyons, 100 

Nev 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) (adopting the Strickland two-part 

test).  The Nevada Supreme Court has held “claims of ineffective assistance 

of counsel must be reviewed under the ‘reasonably effective assistance’ 

standard articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Strickland v Washington, 
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requiring the petitioner to show that counsel’s assistance was deficient and 

that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” Bennett v State, 111 Nev. 1099, 

1108, 901 P.2d 676, 682 (Nev. 1995), and Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 

987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1966).  

The court begins with the presumption of effectiveness and then must 

determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the counsel was ineffective. Means v State, 120 Nev. 1001, 

1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004).  [The Nevada Supreme Court has held “that a 

habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations 

underlying his ineffective-assistance claim by a preponderance of the 

evidence.” Means v State at 1012, 33 (2004).] 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held “claims of ineffective assistance 

of counsel must be reviewed under the ‘reasonably effective assistance’ 

standard articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Strickland v Washington, 

requiring the petitioner to show that counsel’s assistance was deficient and 

that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” Bennett v State, 111 Nev. 1099, 

1108, 901 P.2d 676, 682 (Nev. 1995), and Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 

987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (Nev. 1966).  Prejudice to the defendant occurs 

where there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s errors, the result 

of the proceeding would have been different.  Kirksey at 988, 1107.   
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United States v Cronic which touches  more on what the Supreme 

Court considers a constructive denial of assistance altogether:  “…if counsel 

entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial 

testing, then there has been a denial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes 

the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable.” United States v 

Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 104 S. Ct. 2039. (1984). “…even when no theory of 

defense is available, if the decision to stand trial has been made, counsel must 

hold the prosecution to its heavy burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.’  

United States v Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 657 n. 19, 104 S. Ct. 2039, 2046 n.19 

(1984).  No specific showing of prejudice was required in Davis v. Alaska, 

415 U.S. 308 (1974), because the petitioner had been "denied the right of 

effective cross-examination" which "'would be constitutional error of the first 

magnitude and no amount of showing of want of prejudice would cure it.'" Id. 

at 318 (citing Smith v. Illinois, 390 U.S. 129, 131 (1968), 

and Brookhart v. Janis, 384 U.S. 1, 3 (1966).   

The Cronic Supreme Court held “The right to the effective assistance 

of counsel is thus the right of the accused to require the prosecution's case to 

survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.”  Cronic at 649, 2041.  

Further, “ There are… circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the 

accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is 



 

 18 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

unjustified.” Id.   “…if counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case 

to meaningful adversarial testing, then there has been a denial of rights under 

U.S. Const. amend. VI that makes the adversary process itself presumptively 

unreliable. No specific showing of prejudice is required because the 

petitioner has been denied the right of effective cross-examination which 

would be constitutional error of the first magnitude and no amount of 

showing of want of prejudice would cure it.”  Id.  

 

“….when a true adversarial criminal trial has been conducted, even if the 

defense counsel may have made demonstrable errors, the kind of testing 

envisioned by the Sixth Amendment has occurred, but if the process loses its 

character as a confrontation between adversaries, the constitutional guaranty 

is violated…”  Id.   “Demonstrable” is defined online as clearly apparent or 

capable of being logically proved.  This however should not be interpreted to 

mean that all errors by the trial counsel made at a jury trial will by themselves 

take the entire representation of trial counsel out of the “presumed prejudice” 

category.  See also United States v Swanson, 943 F.2d 1070, 1071 (9th Cir. 

1991). 
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A.  Trial Attorney Wolfbrandt ineffectively and prejudicially  
violated Mr. Mendoza’s Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendment Constitutional rights and rights under Article 1 
section 8 of the Nevada Constitution by providing inaccurate 
statements of self-defense law to him. 

 
 

Counsel renders constitutionally ineffective assistance if it fails to 

investigate and pursue a reasonable defense because it incompetently 

interpreted the law.  Carter v. Davis, 946 F.3d 489, 496 (9th Cir. 2019).    

XV:3430, 3448.   

Wolfbrandt admitted at the postconviction evidentiary hearing that not 

only did he advise Jorge that he had grounds for self-defense – he did not 

even give him an inkling that there might not be a basis in the law for that.   

Did you ever tell him that under the law he might not actually 
have grounds for self-defense? 
A No I thought we had a righteous defense.   XVII:3634. 
 
Q Did you do research on whether self-defense would be a 
proper legal claim for someone who was the initial aggressor? 
A I did not.  XVII:3635. 
 

Mr. Mendoza’s testimony in part at the evidentiary hearing XVII:3660: 

Q Did you rely on the advice of your attorney, Attorney Wolfbrandt, 
throughout the tenure of his representation? 
A Yes. 
Q Do you recall the first time you met him? 
A: Yes 
Q: What did he say to you about how the case would be handled? 
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A He said that it was going to be a self-defense case after speaking 
with the investigator that he hired. 
Q Did he give you an indication that the law might not support self-
defense grounds? 
A No. 
…Q.. Had you thought there were not grounds for self-defense would 
you have waived your right [not](sic) to testify and testified anyway? 
A No.    XVII:3661. 

 

Wolfbrandt also admitted he thought the other defendants were gone 

from the scene at the time of the shooting and there was no other evidence of 

any of them returning fire.  XVII:3639.  This as we have shown is not 

accurate and was another factor which would have inappropriately induced 

Jorge to testify.  XV:3446-8.   

This failure to fully research and address self-defense issues as well as 

to inform him correctly about the status of the law and that self-defense really 

was not a viable claim under the law as to his situation - affected his due 

process rights and inhibited him from effectively contributing to his own 

defense in this case.  XV:3430, 3439 lines 7-11.  

It also acted as a form of coercion in that it induced him to waive his 

Fifth Amendment right to remain silent – and testify.  Had he known that 

self-defense law really could not help his case he would not have waived 

his right to remain silent.  XV:3454-7.   See Frazer v. United States, 18 

F.3d 778 (9th Cir. 1994).    Nevada courts have held that attorneys have a 
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duty to give their client adequate advice so that they can make informed 

decisions.  Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P.3d 528, 529 (2004).  “A 

lawyer shall abide by a client's decisions concerning the objectives of 

representation and shall consult with the client as to the means by which 

they are to be pursued. In a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the 

client's decision, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and 

whether the client will testify. Model Rules of Prof'l Conduct, R. 1.2(a) 

(Final Draft 1982).” Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 746, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 

3310 (1983).  “An accused has the ultimate authority to make certain 

fundamental decisions regarding his case, including the decision to 

testify.”  Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 178, 87 P.3d 528, 529 (2004).  But if 

he is not informed about the law correctly or fully explained all his options 

– it transforms from a free will decision to one that is coerced.    

We are not basing this point of ineffectiveness on the fact that he was 

not prepared to testify by his counsel by doing run throughs of what he was 

going to say and how to say it, although he did not1.  We are not stating that it 

was his attorney’s decision on whether he would testify and he had no say in 

the decision.   We are claiming that he was made promises and assurances 

                                                 
1 Attorney McNeill to Court in arguing her motion to sever: Mr. Mendoza clearly had no 
idea what the discovery said about his cell phone records with regard to the incident…Mr. 
Mendoza seemed to have no idea about those records and his testimony was very odd in 
light of – in light of that.  11AA002546-7 ; p. 238-9 Jury Trial Day 14. 
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and given inaccurate information on the state of self-defense law in Nevada 

and inaccurate information on forensic determination of Jorge being the 

shooter which was wrong by his counsel and thereby took away the voluntary 

quality of his testimony and made it coercive and a violation of his 

constitutional rights: 

Compare with Plea Agreements: XV:3439 

Undue coercion occurs when a defendant is induced by promises or 
threats which deprive his plea of the nature of a voluntary act, not where a 
court makes a ruling later determined to be incorrect.  Stevenson v. State, 
131 Nev. 598, 599, 354 P.3d 1277, 1278 (2015). 

Compare with Police Confessions and Motions to Suppress: 

To determine the voluntariness of a confession, the court must consider 
the effect of the totality of the circumstances on the will of the 
defendant. The question in each case is whether the defendant's will 
was overborne when he confessed. Factors to be considered 
include:Sej the youth of the accused; his lack of education or his low 
intelligence; the lack of any advice of constitutional rights; the length 
of detention; the repeated and prolonged nature of questioning; and the 
use of physical punishment such as the deprivation of food or sleep. 
Passama v. State, 103 Nev. 212,213, 735 P.2d 321,322 (1987).  See 
also Miller v. Fenton, 474 U.S. 104, 106 S.Ct. 445,449 (1985).  
Schneckloth v.  Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226-227, 93 S. Ct. 2041, 
2049 (1973). 

He was promised that he had grounds for self-defense which would 

excuse a murder charge.  He was advised that the evidence showed he was the

shooter to cause the death. He made his decision to testify based on this

inaccurate information.  
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He never would have testified if he knew that he did not have self-

defense grounds.  The law is clear that the initial aggressor does not have 

self-defense grounds and per Jury Instruction 27 robbery can extend to acts

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