1 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Respondent Misinterprets Caselaw to Exclude a Duty to Provide 
Effective Advice and Counsel on Whether to Testify.

The Respondent cites Ford v. State as controlling on this issue. “The Nevada 

Supreme Court has concluded that to succeed on a claim that counsel was ineffective 

in preparing a witness to testify, a defendant must show that a witness’s testimony 

is the result of counsel’s poor performance. See Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, 853, 

784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989)." Respondent’s Brief p. 14. 

In Ford v. State, Rickman had been called by the defense team to support her insanity 

claim by testifying that Ford had shot her previous husband in self-defense and that 

he had seen defendant Ford’s previous husband hit her.   Postconviction, Ford 

claimed ineffectiveness stating trial counsel should have prepared Rickman to 

testify.  But the court found that Ford failed to show that trial counsel’s performance 

had anything to do with Rickman’s poor performance as a witness.   Ford v. State, 

105 Nev. 850, 853, 784 P.2d 951, 953 (1989).  The Respondent argues this is 

controlling on whether Mendoza’s counsel Wolfbrandt was ineffective when  

prejudicially providing incorrect statements of fact and law on first degree murder 

charges and whether he had a self-defense claim.   But it is not. 
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First the Ford witness has no constitutionally guaranteed right to effective assistance 

of counsel.  Therefore, he has no right to be informed of the state of the law on the 

central issue in the case – in that case – insanity.  Second, he has no constitutionally 

guaranteed right to remain silent.   Third, nor would defendant Ford have a right to 

have the subpoenaed witness Rickman be adequately informed on the state of 

insanity law or the facts of the case.  She might have a claim to state that knowing 

what he planned to say it did not support her case so he should not have been called 

to testify.  The court found that no prejudice was demonstrated by his testimony. 

 

But Mendoza  had a right to be advised of the correct status of law so he could take 

his right to remain silent  and make an informed choice on whether to waive that.  

Serious damage was done to Mendoza’s case when he took the stand to testify. Jorge 

Mendoza Direct Testimony: 10AA2387-2414; Direct Resumed: 10AA2445-2480; 

Cross Examination by Mr. DiGiacomo: 10AA2481-2500; 11AA2501-2513 Break 

11AA2515-2538.   

“Q When you fired the weapon, did you have any idea that it had hit anybody? A 

Yes.  Q After you fired your weapon did the shooting at you cease? A Yes.” 

10AA2471-2. 

“Q Would you agree with me if you hadn’t joined this conspiracy, you would not 

have shot and killed Monty Gibson? 
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A Yes.” 10AA2500. 

“Lowe Q Did you ever tell him that under the law he might not actually have grounds 

for self-defense? 

Woflbrandt A No…. Postconviction Evidentiary Hearing 17AA3634. 

Q Did you do research on whether self-defense would be a proper legal claim for 

someone who was the initial aggressor? 

A I did not.”  17AA3636. 

He took the stand because his trial counsel told him he had grounds for a self-defense 

case in the law for the murder.  15AA3454-57.  Further his counsel mislead him to 

believe that he was the only one who could have caused the death and that the other 

3 defendants were no longer in the area.  17AA3639.  He was convicted of first 

degree murder; his two codefendants were convicted of second degree murder. 

XVIII:3754-3782.  Had he been told of the state of self-defense law in Nevada he 

would not have testified. 15AA3455. The benefits would have been three-fold.  First, 

he would not have taken the stand and confessed to everything. Second, he could not 

have been impeached by his statements at the hospital when he testified and  if he 

had moved to suppress them as he should have it is highly likely they would not have 

been admitted at all.  Third, counsel should have, could have, then taken the only 
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reasonable and supportable strategy available and that would be to show repeatedly 

and at Opening and Closing and throughout the trial, that there was opportunity for 

the others to have caused the death. 

All four were on the scene at the time of the murder. [IV:881-4, IX:2188]  

[VIII:1856-7] That Figueroa was the only one of the four seen by a witness in a home 

shooting his gun is significant. XIV:1308-9.   That another neighbor saw the other 

two defendants right near Mendoza at the time of the shooting is important.  

VI:1401-12.  And that the bullets found in the deceased could not be conclusively 

linked to Mendoza’s gun is persuasive.  VI:1308.   All this had substantial chance of 

planting reasonable doubt on whether he actually caused the death – which appears 

very important to the jury given they convicted his two non-testifying codefendants 

of second degree murder.  They were both gang members and had large criminal 

records.  Mendoza had no prior criminal convictions and was not a gang member.  

He was married and had children.  [See PSI filed separately at 2].  He had the 

potential for a job if he got treatment.  He had a lot going for him and clearly could 

have reduced his sentence if convicted of second degree murder.  Even a small 

increase in a defendant's sentence is prejudicial.   Lampkin v. State, 470 S.W.3d 876, 

886 (Tex. App. 2015).  Trial counsel had a duty to hold the State to the job of proving 

their case and not freely concede things not necessary.  He did not do this and that 

was devasting to the case of Jorge Mendoza. 
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Q Do you know for a fact that Mr. Mendoza’s bullet caused the death 
of the deceased, Monty Gibson? 

A I don’t know it for a fact. The forensic testimony lead to that 
conclusion. 

Q Well, in fact, they didn’t identify him directly; isn’t it true? The 
identified a millimeter bullet which was used by the gun that he was using but 
they didn’t ever come to the conclusion that he is linked to that bullet isn’t 
that true? (Writer’s clarification- question pertains to Mr. Mendoza’s gun 
used .38 millimeter bullets generally – the bullet found in the deceased was 
never specifically linked to Mendoza’s gun in particular – it would have been 
clearer to say which was the type of bullet used by the gun) 

A Maybe.  I mean as I recall at that time, the other co-defendants were 
gone from the scene.  I think there was a car that pulled up two of them, they 
left and Jorge was still trying to get across the street to escape. 

Q What role did you have to play in getting Mr. Mendoza to confess to 
him being the cause of Mr. Gibson’s death? 

A. Well, there are a number of factors.  You had the blood trail from 
him going out into the middle of the street, had shell casings in the street, there 
was no other evidence of anybody else returning fire at the time that 
gentleman was killed. 

Q But, in fact, one of the neighbors testified, isn’t it true, at the Grand 
Jury hearing that he looked out of the window and saw Figueroa shooting 
several shots and not of the other neighbors saw Mr. Mendoza shooting a gun? 

A That could be.  I don’t have a specific recollection of that. 
17AA3628-3682 at 3639 Postconviction Evidentiary Hearing Transcript. 

The Respondent also cites Lara v State to refute our claim of prejudicial 

ineffectiveness of the advice of counsel.  See Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177,  182 87 

P.3d 528, 531 (2004) (“The United States Supreme Court has recognized that an 

accused has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding 

the case, including the decision to testify.”). They misinterpret our argument by 

appearing to frame it as ineffectiveness for not telling him what to expect once he 

got on the stand or walking him through his testimony in advance to make sure he 
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would give clear answers or telling him that he had the right to choose whether to 

testify.  We have never claimed any of this including that he did not know it was his 

choice whether or not to testify. And by repeatedly arguing this in their brief the 

Respondent may confuse the reader into thinking this. 

They overlook addressing Lara’s very important holding that not only was Lara